

NORA OALAND SUPERVISOR: LARS BERKGVIST

Adaptation of Cultural Differences in Business to Business (B2B) Marketing – Norwegian Companies Doing Business in Singapore

Master thesis, 2024 Masters in Service Leadership in International Business Faculty of Social Sciences Norwegian School of Hotel Management



Abstract

The exploration of how businesses from a predominantly individualistic culture like Norway undertake strategy development in a society primarily characterized by a strong sense of collectivism, such as Singapore, provides fascinating revelations regarding effective adaptation methodologies within the Business to Business (B2B) marketing landscape. This research/ analysis also sheds light on the operations of businesses inherently identified by individualism, embedded within the Singaporean economic landscape that underscored a high regard for collectivism. Essential to this research is the Tightness-Looseness (TL) construct, a concept integral to cultural studies, which emphasizes the importance of societal norms and the consequences of deviating from them. It is important for Norwegians to observe cultural sensitivity, even though Singaporeans are increasingly open to different cultural practices due to the country's multi-ethnic composition and the influx of foreigners.

Keywords: Cultural Tightness-Looseness, Individualism, Collectivism, Cultural Intelligence, Vertical Horizontal, Power Distance, Cultural Intelligence, Culture and Marketing, Business to Business Culture, Singapore, Norway

Table of Contents

Preface	5
Introduction	6
Overview of Thesis Structure	8
Literature Review	8
Singapore	9
Norway	10
Tightness and Looseness	11
Individualism and Collectivism	13
Independence and Interdependence	14
Correlations	14
Power Distance	15
Method	16
Overview	16
Interview Process	18
Scope and Limitations	19
Literature Review	20
Leveraging Cultural Tightness-Looseness in B2B Marketing Strategies	20
Key Themes	24
Integrating Cultural Tightness and Looseness	26
Influence of Collectivism and Individualism on B2B Marketing Strate	egies27
Theoretical Concepts	28
Analysis	29

Cultural Insights for Marketing Strategies	
Discussion	32
Interview Findings	33
Conclusion	35
Contribution to the Field of Study	36
Future Research	36
Reflections	37
References	39
Appendix 1	46

Preface

I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Lars Bergkvist for his wisdom and guidance. I also appreciate and cannot be thankful enough to my husband and my three little daughters for their unwavering support enabling this thesis to take shape amidst our busy days. In this thesis, the phenomenon is the cultural adaptation strategies employed by Norwegian businesses operating in the Singaporean marketplace. This involves understanding how these businesses, characterized by a strong sense of individualism, navigate the cultural differences in a society that predominantly embraces collectivism.

Singapore's culture is largely influenced by the Tight-Loose concept, which refers to the strength of social norms and the severity of sanctions for breaking these norms whereas Norwegian culture is almost the opposite of that. This cultural aspect exists at the societal level, and it is crucial for Norwegian businesses to understand and respect this to successfully operate in the Singapore market.

Introduction

In the dynamic landscape of international business, the significance of cultural differences cannot be understated. As companies engage in Business to Business (B2B) marketing across borders, understanding and adapting to diverse cultural environments across borders (Gelfand, 2012), especially in the world of increasing global interdependence where "global production sharing is on the rise" (Chang & Nguyen, 2020), is crucial for achieving success. This is particularly evident in the context of Norwegian companies venturing into the vibrant market of Singapore, a melting pot of cultures, where cultural nuances play an important role in shaping business interactions and strategies.

Norwegian businesses, in their quest for global expansion, especially those operating in the B2B sector, faces a considerable challenge in the form of adapting to distinctive cultural contexts, a crucial component of a successful international business management and strategies. Ushering from a culture with a strong sense of individualism (Kitayama & Salvador 2024), Norwegian businesses in no doubt would find themselves navigating the complex cultural threadwork of collectivist Singapore. The marked contrast of 'tightness' and 'looseness', referring to the strength of societal norms and the intensity of consequences upon breaking them, between the two cultures presents a significant challenge (Gelfand et al., 2021). Because of the inherent tightness in Singapore's cultural fabric due to its collectivist values, the importance of adhering to norms is heightened.

Strategies deployed by these Norwegian businesses generally encapsulate an emphasis on cultural adaptation – a process by which a foreign company adjusts not only its business practices and procedures but also their communication, negotiation, and interaction techniques to align more closely with the host country's landscape (Kim, 2001). Such measures invariably help to build relationships, engender trust, and ultimately create a more conducive environment for fruitful business transactions.

However, there are some hurdles that affect the success of these strategies. One main challenge is moving from Norway's usual value of 'independence' to Singapore's idea of 'interdependence' (Triandis, 2001). This means accepting and adopting Singapore's collective culture where respect, teamwork, and group goals are more important than individual aims. Shifting from independence to interdependence can be hard and may lead to misunderstandings. But the benefits, such as a better position in the market, make it worthwhile.

This thesis aims to explore how Norwegian companies or individuals adapt their strategies in the presence of cultural differences in Singapore, striving to understand how cultural factors such as tightness-looseness and collectivism versus individualism may influence their commercial conduct and marketing tactics. This will provide insights crucial for international B2B interactions. Currently, there is a significant gap in understanding how Norwegian businesses adapt to the cultural nuances of Singapore, particularly in terms of tightnesslooseness and collectivism versus individualism. Investigating these adaptation strategies is essential to fill this gap, contributing to a deeper understanding of bilateral relations between Norway and Singapore and benefiting businesses engaged in cross-cultural collaborations. The guiding questions for this exploration include:

How do existing Norwegian businesses operating in Singapore where the culture of the locals is different from Norwegians, navigate the cultural differences in this specific international business context?

What are the perceived effectiveness and challenges associated with these cultural adaptation strategies for Norwegian B2B businesses in having to adjust their marketing strategies in the context of cultural differences in the Singaporean market?

How do businesses characterized by a strong sense of individualism operate in a country that predominantly embraces collectivism?

Overview of Thesis Structure

The structure of this thesis is organised as follows: the next section will present literature review on cultural dimensions on B2B marketing, and thereafter and analysis of culture theory which the methodology applied in the review where the research design, data collection methods and the analytical approach used in this study are outlined. Subsequently, the findings from the systematic literature review and interviews will be integrated to provide a general structured understanding of how Norwegian companies and business personnels can effectively adapt to cultural differences in the context of doing business in Singapore.

Literature Review

In the domain of B2B marketing, decision-making processes can be significantly shaped by cultural contexts, with some cultures favoring collective decision-making, and others valuing hierarchical structures with centralized decision authority. This notion of cultural tightness or looseness, a concept thoroughly researched within cross-cultural psychology, bears critical consequences for B2B marketers (Gelfand et al., 2011). Recognizing and tailoring strategies to align with these cultural tendencies is vital for nurturing effective partnerships and management practices in interfirm contexts.

It is essential to acknowledge that cultural dynamics are not static; they are continually being reshaped by various forces such as socio-economic trends, political climates, and technological advancements. Additionally, potential conflicts could stem from a lack of familiarity with each other's policies and procedures (Gundlach & Cadotte, 1994). Therefore, observations of cultural tightness or looseness represent a cultural state at a particular moment. Ongoing research is imperative to keep pace with these evolving cultural landscapes and to adjust business strategies, accordingly, ensuring that marketing efforts are both efficacious and

attuned to the perpetually transforming patterns of cultural norms and values (Kalwani & Narayandas, 1995). It is also important to note that cultural intelligence also plays a big role in maneuvering different cultural set ups where if lack of it could lead to an ineffective intercultural negotiation (Imai & Gelfand, 2010)

Singapore

Singapore, characterized as a melting pot of various ethnicities, provides a unique intersection of cultural diversity, international business, and cross-cultural management. Hofstede's research (1980) provides an insight into Singapore's cultural landscape, highlighting its high-power distance and collectivism, indicative of a hierarchical and community-oriented society.

In Singapore, individuals operating within its reputedly tight and collectivist culture may exhibit an inclination towards conformity and adherence to societal norms. This inclination, however, might not stem solely from compassionate motives but rather from a sense of obligation or submission, driven by a fear of negative repercussions for not prioritizing others. This fear could manifest in concerns about being disliked or undervalued, shaping individuals' behavior towards maintaining harmony and conformity in business interactions (Steindl, et al, year).

Deemed vital for its strategic geographical placement and exceptional talent pool, Singapore's international business scene gets much recognition. In his study, Yeung (1999) elaborates on how Singapore has succeeded in establishing itself as an integral nexus in the global economic framework and a global city, shedding light on its prowess in international business.

In a revealing study by Low and Ang (2012) on corporate practices in Singapore, it becomes abundantly clear how Confucian values deeply impact these practices. The research emphasizes the importance of maintaining harmony, respecting hierarchical structures, and preserving face in the business landscape, thus offering a one-of-a-kind look into cross-cultural management in Singapore.

Norway

Norway presents a contrast to Singapore with its low power distance and high individualism, as indicated by Hofstede's research (1980). This reflects a society that values equality, direct communication, and individual autonomy, shedding light on Norway's cultural diversity.

Exploring further into Norway's cultural aspects, an interesting facet to go into is how these businesses navigate the tight and loose cultural dynamics, particularly when operating in foreign markets such as Singapore. Gelfand's Tightness and Looseness theory (TL) posits that societies differ in the rigidity of their norms and the strength of their sanctions. Notably, societallevel norms and sanctions distinctively influence individual behaviors (Gelfand, 2018).

Norway typically leans towards a looser societal fabric, allowed by a certain flexibility of norms and sanctions, fostering creativity and openness towards lifestyle choices (Uz, 2015). In the business context, Norwegian companies gravitate towards fluid and adaptable business practices, encouraging independent decision-making and innovation (Gelfand, 2018). This correlates to their strong sense of individualism, where personal rights and freedoms are highly respected.

Interestingly, the cultural looseness paradigm in Norway also reflects in their approach to business relationships. Norwegian firms tend to be more open to external partnerships and show a higher degree of trust in their business dealings compared to counterparts in more collectivist cultures. This openness can be traced back to the societal emphasis on egalitarian principles and mutual respect, which extends into the corporate domain (Schwartz, 2006). Consequently, B2B marketing strategies in Norway often revolve around mutual benefits, trust-

building, and transparent communication, aligning with the societal values of individual autonomy and collective well-being.

Overall, the spectrum of cultural tightness and looseness greatly affects Norway's B2B marketing strategies. It highlights the importance of adaptability, openness, and mutual trust in building successful business relationships. By integrating these cultural aspects into their marketing strategies, Norwegian companies can improve their effectiveness and sustainability in the global market.

Tightness and Looseness

For Norwegian businesses looking to enter the Singaporean market, understanding cultural dimension is crucial. They must navigate a market environment where social norms significantly influence consumer behavior and business practices (Gelfand, 2018; Ang & Liang, 2021). Adapting to the tight culture of Singapore can be a critical factor for success in such a market.

In cultural theory, the concepts of 'tightness' and 'looseness' reflect the strength of social norms in a society and the consequences of deviating from them. This framework, introduced by Michele Gelfand, offers insights into how Norwegian businesses may navigate the Singaporean market. "Tightness-looseness" is a sociological term that describes how strictly or loosely a culture follows social norms and tolerates deviance. It's a way of understanding the social flexibility and rigidity in different societies (Gelfand, 2012).

This concept was developed by psychologist Michele Gelfand and is used to analyse and compare different cultures. In 'tight' societies, there are strong social norms and severe punishments for deviating from these norms. These societies often have a high degree of conformity and uniformity, and individuals are expected to adhere strictly to societal rules and expectations. Singapore, for instance, is often characterized as a 'tight' society. It has strict social norms, a low tolerance for deviant behaviour, and strong behavioral sanctions.

ADAPTING B2B MARKETING

Singapore's societal structure emphasizes respect for authority, conformity, and adherence to social rules, which are typical features of a tight culture. On the other hand, 'loose' societies have weaker social norms and more lenient punishments for deviating from these norms. These societies often have a high degree of diversity and individualism, and individuals are given more freedom to behave as they wish, which align with the characteristics of a loose culture (Gelfand, Nishii & Raver, 2006). Societies like Singapore with 'tight' cultures enforce strict social norms and have low tolerance for deviance. These norms significantly impact business negotiations, consumer behaviour, and marketing strategies.

For instance, in such 'tight' cultures, business negotiations tend to be highly structured and formal, with a strong preference for established protocols and respect for hierarchical relationships (Gelfand et al., 2011). Marketing strategies in these environments often need to incorporate explicit signals of authority and credibility to align with local expectations. Consumer behaviour in these societies also tends to reflect a collective orientation, where purchasing decisions are influenced by societal norms and peer expectations (Pelto, 1968).

Contrastingly, in 'loose' cultures, such as Norway, there is a higher tolerance for deviance from social norms, and business practices may exhibit greater flexibility and innovation (Gelfand et al., 2011). These cultural distinctions necessitate that B2B marketing strategies are meticulously adapted to ensure resonance with the target audience's cultural context. For example, companies entering 'tight' markets in this case, Singapore, need to emphasize group benefits, social harmony, and long-term relationships in their marketing communications to cultivate trust and loyalty (Hofstede, 1980).

Moreover, conducting thorough market research to understand local cultural trends, preferences, and consumption behaviours becomes indispensable when formulating B2B marketing strategies in different cultural settings (Douglas & Craig, 2011). Cultural sensitivity is not merely an adjunct but a crucial component of successful international marketing strategies,

directly affecting the efficacy of advertisements, negotiation tactics, and overall market penetration (Singh & Matsuo, 2004).

Individualism and Collectivism

Individualism means that people see themselves as independent individuals, focusing more on their own goals than on group goals. It is a cultural pattern found in societies that values the needs, rights, and goals of the individual over that of the group. In individualistic cultures, personal achievements and independence are celebrated. People are expected to stand on their own and prioritize their personal goals (Triandis, 2001, Kitayama & Uskul, 2011).

On the other hand, collectivism means people see themselves as part of groups, like families or communities, and they prioritize the goals of these groups. It is a cultural pattern found in societies that places a higher value on the goals, norms, and well-being of the group rather than the individual. In collectivist cultures, cooperation and harmony within the group are emphasized, and people often find their identities within the context of their relationships and communities. (Hofstede, 1980; Triandis, 2001).

In individualistic cultures, such as Norway, marketing strategies are most effective when they emphasize personal benefits and individual autonomy where decisions can be made independently. In contrast, collectivist cultures value community, social relationships, and familial ties, which fundamentally alters the approach to B2B marketing. Singapore serves as an example of a collectivist society where marketing messages are tailored to emphasize collective well-being and group identity, where decisions are often made by consensus and with significant consideration of social norms and hierarchical structures (Triandis, 2001).

Understanding the differences between individualistic and collectivist cultures can help businesses create more effective business strategy. In individualistic cultures, businesses prefer straightforward communication that highlights clear benefits and measurable outcomes. On the

other hand, in collectivist cultures, it's more effective to use indirect communication that emphasizes group benefits, loyalty, harmony, and collaboration. (Earley & Gibson, 1998).

Independence and Interdependence

Independence, as elaborated by Kitayama and Uskul (Culture, Mind, and the Brain), is the psychological state in which individuals perceive themselves as self-sufficient entities, prioritizing personal achievements and autonomy. It is fundamentally characterized by a reliance on one's own capabilities and the pursuit of self-defined goals. This focus on independence is deeply rooted in the socio-economic aspects of individualistic cultures, affecting their educational systems, family structures, and work environments (Triandis, 2001).

Interdependence, on the other hand, is defined by a sense of connectedness and mutual reliance within a group or community. Individuals in interdependent cultures emphasize harmonious relationships and collective achievements, often placing group goals above personal aspirations. This cultural orientation fosters a network of reciprocal obligations and shared responsibilities (Kitayama & Uskul, 2011).

Correlations

Individualism and collectivism are key terms in cultural psychology and cross-cultural studies, describing how integrated people are into groups within a society. These concepts correlate with independence and interdependence, respectively, and shape individual behaviors, relationships, and social practices.

Individualism prioritizes personal goals over group objectives, fostering a sense of independence (Triandis, 2001). This independence influences B2B marketing strategies by focusing on unique value propositions and tailored communications that meet the specific needs of individual businesses rather than offering standardized solutions. In highly individualistic cultures, autonomy is crucial for entrepreneurial success and innovative marketing practices (Kale & McIntyre, 1991).

Individualistic cultures emphasize decentralized decision-making, providing businesses with flexibility and responsiveness in transactions (Gelfand & Realo, 1999). This decentralization helps build strong, trust-based relationships, where fair exchanges and relational norms are vital for sustainable B2B partnerships (Ganesan, 1994). Independent decision-making allows firms to negotiate terms that align precisely with their strategic objectives, enhancing client satisfaction and loyalty.

In contrast, collectivist cultures emphasize interdependence and communal harmony, stemming from values that prioritize group cohesion and mutual support over personal achievements (Triandis, 2001). Marketing strategies in collectivist societies should highlight the benefits of group affiliation, shared success, and collaborative efforts. Firms in these environments often create messages that resonate with collective values, such as family, community, and societal well-being, to build trust and solidarity among consumers (Hofstede, et al, 2010).

The synergy from interdependent relationships can enhance brand loyalty and customer engagement, as people in collectivist societies base purchasing decisions on the impact on their in-groups rather than personal gains (Markus & Kitayama, 1991). By aligning strategies with cultural preferences for cooperation and shared achievements, marketers can effectively navigate collectivist markets (Oyserman, Coon, & Kemmelmeier, 2002).

These cultural orientations—individualism linked with independence and collectivism linked with interdependence—significantly influence various aspects of life, from interpersonal interactions and communication styles to business practices and social and family structures.

Power Distance

When examining 'Power Distance' in Business-to-Business (B2B) marketing, it is essential to consider Hofstede's foundational theory (1980). 'Power Distance' describes how much members of a society accept unequal power distribution (Hofstede, 1980). In high power distance countries, like Singapore, hierarchical structures deeply influence decision-making and communication. Norwegian businesses entering such markets must understand these dynamics (Hofstede, Hofstede, & Minkov, 2010). The Power Distance Index (PDI) measures this concept, showing that high PDI societies respect established hierarchies, while low PDI societies, such as Norway, favor equitable power distribution and question authority (Daniels & Greguras, 2014).

In high PDI societies where power is shared unequally (Javidan & House, 2001), B2B strategies should focus on engaging with top decision-makers, as authority is centralized (Mooij & Hofstede, 2010). In low PDI societies, a more inclusive approach is beneficial, reflecting their consensus-driven decision-making process. Understanding the PDI of the target market is crucial for effective communication and marketing strategies in B2B contexts.

Method

Overview

This research aims to observe how tight and loose cultures influence B2B marketing strategies by using both qualitative and quantitative methods. This combination expands the research and reveals more in-depth data. This study looks into previous scholarly works in this domain, identifying existing knowledge and locating areas which need more exploration. The strategy includes a comprehensive review of written works, coupled with targeted interviews. This approach is specifically chosen to deeply penetrate the subject matter. A review of the literature helps to map out what we already know, diving into past research to identify potential gaps that might need additional investigation (Booth, et al, 2022).

Interviews with B2B marketing professionals from Norway are included to bring in perspectives that literature alone might not cover. By conversing with professionals who have hands-on experience, we can gather practical insights on the role of cultural factors in marketing approaches (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This element is important for connecting academic theories with real-life business practices. Together, these methods provide a more comprehensive understanding of the influence of culture on business at both local and international levels. In essence, using both literature reviews and interviews is essential to get a full picture of how culture impacts B2B marketing strategies.

The systematic literature review (SLR) process relies on a defined protocol to minimize bias by thoroughly searching for both published and unpublished studies and documenting all decisions, procedures, and conclusions. The objective of this process is to comprehensively evaluate the findings from existing research around cultural theories and B2B marketing between Singapore and Norway. A comprehensive search using the following keywords: "Cultural Tightness-Looseness", "Individualism", "Collectivism", "Cultural Intelligence", "Vertical Horizontal", "Power Distance", "Cultural Intelligence", "Culture and Marketing", "Business to Business Culture", "Singapore", "Norway", were carried out through databases such as JSTOR, Web of Science, and Google Scholar. Searches were also done on journals with no predefined criteria on the publishing year. Each potential study is critically evaluated for inclusion using these criteria.

Next, quality assessment of included studies, focusing on theoretical clarity, data quality, and analytical methods (Booth, et al, 2022). Other factors also include credibility of the author(s) and source type such as peer-reviewed journals, keeping in mind the global and culturally diverse aspect of the research topic. After which, data extraction meticulously gathers necessary data from the studies, ensuring data integrity. Finally, the findings are synthesized, using narrative qualitative synthesis, to integrate the results of several independent studies, providing a comprehensive overview with multiple validations (Anderson, Hakansson, & Johanson, 1994).

Following the systematic review steps is important to ensuring an unbiased, inclusive, and rigorous analysis that reflects the entire breadth of the knowledge on the topic. Thus, the

systematic review process forms a pivotal facet in the investigation of how cultural theories shape B2B marketing strategies. The gathered data is analyzed to find common patterns and to compile a comprehensive result based on the literature review and interviews.

Employing a combination of systematic literature review and interviews presents an integrative approach to research. This dual methodology, underpinned by several pieces of relevant academic literature, serves to maximize the depth and breadth of the investigation on how cultural tightness and looseness shape Business-to-Business (B2B) marketing strategies. *Interview Process*

The interview process consists of a one-on-one interview with Norwegian individuals currently working in Singapore. This will provide a platform for participants to share their experiences, insights, and perspectives on various aspects related to their work and life in Singapore. The interviews will be semi-structured, allowing for flexibility in probing deeper into relevant topics while maintaining a coherent structure. Each interview is expected to last approximately 45-60 minutes.

These professionals are selected specifically because of their firsthand experience in dealing with how culture impacts marketing decisions. Strict ethical considerations are maintained for these interviews, with participant consent, anonymity, and confidentiality prioritized. The data collected is used solely for this study to maintain ethical standards. For participant recruitment, six potential candidates were identified through LinkedIn. LinkedIn was chosen as a platform for recruitment due to its professional nature and its extensive network of professionals, including expatriates working in various countries, including Singapore.

The initial step involved searching LinkedIn using specific criteria to identify Norwegian individuals currently working in Singapore. Criteria such as nationality and location were used to narrow down the search results. Once potential candidates were identified, personalized

messages were sent to each of them via LinkedIn's messaging feature. These messages briefly introduced the purpose of the research and explained why the candidate was being contacted, emphasizing their relevance due to their Norwegian nationality and their current residence in Singapore. The messages also included a request for participation in a research interview, outlining the approximate time commitment and the voluntary nature of participation. Contact was made in a professional and courteous manner, respecting the candidates' privacy and the norms of LinkedIn communication.

Out of the eight candidates contacted, only three responded positively and agreed to participate in an interview. This response rate of less than 50% reflects both the challenges and the realities of participant recruitment in qualitative research, particularly when targeting a specific population such as Norwegian expatriates in Singapore. Many professionals, especially those working in demanding roles or industries, may have busy schedules, making it difficult for them to commit time to research interviews. One of the candidates saw the research was not relevant and is therefore not interested.

In addition to LinkedIn, other recruitment channels could be explored, such as professional networks, expatriate forums, or Norwegian community groups such as Norwegian Business Association in Singapore. Adjustments to the recruitment criteria could be made to broaden the pool of potential participants, though this must be done carefully to maintain the relevance and focus of the research. Despite the challenges in participant recruitment, the candidates who responded positively represent valuable perspectives that will contribute to the richness and depth of the research findings.

Although, when the time came, conflicting schedules made it impossible for two out of three candidates to be interviewed.

Scope and Limitations

There are several limitations that should be acknowledged in this study. Firstly, the number of interview participants from Norwegian companies in Singapore is small, which means the findings may not fully represent all Norwegian companies or encompass the complete range of B2B marketing strategies used. Secondly, caution should be exercised when generalizing the research findings from other contexts to Norwegian companies in Singapore, as the cultural dynamics specific to Norway and Singapore may not apply universally to all cross-cultural business settings. Lastly, the study relies primarily on English-language research papers and publications, potentially excluding relevant literature in Norwegian or other languages. As a result, the scope of information considered may be limited especially when it is involving a country where English is not the first language ie. Norwegian language is first language in Norway. It is important to be aware of these limitations when interpreting the findings, applying them to practical situations, or drawing broader conclusions. For instance, in Norway, where there is a comprehensive national index like the Norwegian Science Index, 87% of publications are written in English, which further affects the availability of relevant literature (Vera-Baceta et al, 2019).

Literature Review

Leveraging Cultural Tightness-Looseness in B2B Marketing Strategies

In their foundational work on cultural tightness and looseness, Gelfand et al. (2011) propose a framework useful for shaping business-to-business (B2B) marketing strategies. They define cultural tightness as the rigidity of social norms and the degree of sanctioning within societies. High-tightness cultures have strict norms and low tolerance for deviation, while loose cultures are more accepting of deviant behavior (Gelfand et al., 2011).

This framework has significant implications for B2B marketing, as tightness-looseness influences business interactions and shapes marketing strategies. In tight cultures, marketers

need to adhere to established norms and traditions to be effective, whereas in loose cultures, they have the flexibility to embrace experimentation and innovation (Huang et al, 2022).

Empirical evidence by Beugelsdijk and Maseland (2010) supports these theoretical assertions. They demonstrate that national cultural differences, including tightness and looseness, significantly impact transaction costs in B2B relations. This underscores the importance of considering these cultural dimensions when developing marketing strategies.

However, not all studies agree. Deligonul et al. (2015) found that the influence of cultural tightness-looseness can be mitigated by factors such as a firm's international experience and the presence of strong B2B relationships. These findings suggest that the relationship between cultural tightness-looseness and B2B marketing strategies is complex and warrants further investigation.

The impact of collectivism and individualism, as constituent elements of both tight and loose cultures, on the formulation and implementation of B2B marketing strategies is an underexplored aspect in existing literature.

It is well-documented that these cultural elements significantly shape consumption behavior in B2C contexts (Hofstede, 2001; Triandis, 2001). However, less attention has been given to their potential influence within a B2B context. For instance, in a collectivist culture where group consensus is highly valued, B2B marketing may benefit from strategies that emphasize the communal benefits of a product or service. Conversely, an individualistic culture may require a different approach, focusing on the direct benefits to the decision-making individual within the organization.

Furthermore, businesses operating in high-context cultures, which typically correlate with high degrees of collectivism, may need to prioritize the establishment of trust and personal relationships in their B2B marketing strategies. In contrast, businesses operating in low-context cultures, often associated with individualism, may find that a straightforward and task-oriented approach works best (Triandis, 2001).

The translation of these cultural tendencies into actionable B2B marketing strategies, however, is yet to be adequately addressed. This gap in the literature suggests a need for future research to explore the nuances and intricacies of how collectivism and individualism impact B2B marketing strategies across different markets (Triandis, 2001; Markus & Kitayama, 1991).

Independence and interdependence are integral concepts within the framework of individualism and collectivism, respectively, and their role in shaping B2B marketing strategies necessitates exploration (Hofstede, 1980).

Amid cultural dynamics, independence, linked with individualistic cultures, tends to be characterized by an emphasis on self-reliance, personal achievement, and direct communication (Triandis, 2001). Businesses engaging in B2B marketing within cultures valuing independence may need to place a premium on showcasing the unique advantage offered by their product or service and how it advances the goals of the individual or organization. They may also find that communication is most effective when it is clear, explicit, and task-centered (Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey, 1988).

On the other hand, interdependence, commonly associated with collectivistic cultures, emphasizes harmony, cooperation, and indirect or high-context communication (Hall, 1976). B2B marketing strategies within interdependent cultures may require a more relationshipcentered approach, which includes emphasizing communal benefit, creating harmony in business relations, and employing more subtle, nuanced communication strategies (Triandis, 2001). Moving forward, these findings underscore the necessity for marketers to elevate their cultural intelligence. This involves not only recognizing the broad cultural tendencies of tightness-looseness, collectivism-individualism, independence-interdependence, but also appreciating the inherent variations and dynamic nature of cultures (Gelfand et al., 2011; Markus & Kitayama, 1991). Ultimately, a deeper understanding of these cultural contours can enable businesses to effectively navigate cultural differences and foster successful B2B relationships (Earley & Mosakowski, 2004).

Building upon the previous discussion, there is a critical need to consider the influence of the concepts of power distance and the vertical and horizontal aspects of individualism and collectivism in shaping B2B marketing strategies (Hofstede, 1980; Triandis, 2001).

High power distance cultures, where hierarchy and centralized authority are respected, require B2B marketing strategies to be catered to decision-makers within an organization rather than a general consensus. Marketers must understand the significance of this hierarchical structure, noting that decision-making often lies in the hands of a few individuals (Hofstede, 2001). They might then develop more personalized and direct marketing campaigns that appeal to key decision-makers in such cultures (House et al., 2004).

Conversely, in a culture with a low power distance index, decision-making tends to be more democratic, and hierarchical structures are not as valued (Hofstede, 1980). B2B marketing strategies in these cultures might place a higher emphasis on collaborative decision-making processes, demonstrating how the product or service benefits the everyone involved (Czarnecka & Schivinski, 2021).

The horizontal and vertical dimensions of individualism and collectivism further complicate this dynamic. According to Triandis (1995), in cultures that exhibit horizontal

individualism, individuals are inclined to be self-reliant but view each other as equals. On the other hand, those from vertical individualist cultures prioritize personal success, even if it leads to inequality (Singelis et al., 1995). Therefore, B2B marketing strategies need to consider whether to highlight the competitive advantage that a product or service offers (suitable in vertical individualism) or emphasize its usefulness in fostering self-reliance (appropriate in horizontal individualism).

Similarly, vertical collectivism appreciates a degree of inequality and assigns individuals to particular social roles, implying that marketing strategies should identify and cater to these roles (Triandis, 2001). In contrast, horizontal collectivism values egalitarian relationships, suggesting B2B marketing should emphasize community benefits and collaborative commitments (Singelis et al., 1995; Soh & Leong, 2002).

An in-depth understanding of these constructs, including power distance and the vertical and horizontal dimensions of individualism and collectivism, can enhance B2B marketing strategies (Triandis & Gelfand, 1998). However, both academics and practitioners could benefit from further comprehensive research that elucidates these influences to better adapt in a globalized market.

Key Themes

The exploration of cultural tightness and looseness in the context of B2B marketing strategies is informed by a multitude of themes identified across the analyzed literature. A predominant thread is the holistic implication of Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions Framework in the shaping of marketing strategies. This framework provides measurable variables to analyze the previously intangible aspects of culture in a business-to-business landscape, thereby fostering a clarified understanding of diverse cultures (Hofstede, 1980). This understanding

consequently supports the cultivation of superior customer relationships and the enhancement of sales performance (Hofstede, 2011).

Nonetheless, there is a noted gap in literature concerning the evaluation of individual variations within cultures. Cultural tendencies are fluid and reside on a constantly shifting spectrum, a phenomenon that requires broader attention in marketing research (Gelfand et al., 2011). While it is acknowledged that future trends, preferences, and buying habits are variable and influenced by numerous factors, the current literature does not seem to adequately address this dynamism (Inglehart, 1997). The multifaceted nature of cultural dynamics calls for a more refined research approach and examination of the target audience's preferences within their distinct cultural contexts when formulating marketing strategies (Tung, 2008).

Additionally, the role of cultural codes, a term coined by Greenbook, represents another theme that garners attention. Cultural codes aid in distinguishing the differing cultural perceptions in various countries, a vital element in customizing marketing strategies (Coutu & Rapaille, 2006). The seven-step procedure to build an effective culture of content equally features in the literature, providing a guiding principle for a successful marketing plan, from goal setting and research to data analysis.

Despite these significant contributions, the literature appears to marginally address the concept of uncertainty avoidance. El-Ansary and Stern (1972) provide foundational insights into the role of uncertainty avoidance in marketing strategies; however, the complexities and implications of this dimension merit a more thorough examination.

Uncertainty avoidance, a critical component of Hofstede's cultural dimensions theory, encapsulates how cultures manage ambiguity and the unknown. It significantly influences B2B marketing strategies, necessitating a tailored approach to navigate varying levels of risk tolerance effectively. For instance, cultures with high uncertainty avoidance, such as France with a rating of 86, demonstrate a predisposition towards structured environments and clear

rules. Therefore, within such markets, businesses must prioritize the establishment of trust by emphasizing transparency, consistency, and credibility in their marketing efforts, as supported by the findings of Kalwani and Narayandas (1995). In contrast, the UK's lower rating of 35 suggests a more flexible attitude towards ambiguity, allowing for a more adaptive and less rigid marketing strategy.

Moreover, Gundlach and Cadotte (1994) argue that understanding cultural sensitivity and risk perception is paramount in crafting effective marketing strategies for international audiences. This involves not only recognizing the intrinsic variations in uncertainty avoidance but also developing a comprehensive approach that accommodates these differences. The flexibility in marketing approaches, underscored by the necessity to adapt communication and engagement tactics, becomes crucial in appealing to diverse consumer bases.

Ultimately, the integration of uncertainty avoidance into B2B marketing strategies demands a deep understanding of cultural dynamics. By addressing this dimension with precision and depth, marketers can enhance their strategic frameworks, fostering stronger, more trust-based relationships with their international counterparts.

Integrating Cultural Tightness and Looseness

Building upon the extensive literature on B2B marketing strategies and Michele Gelfand's influential work on cultural tightness and looseness, this conceptual framework explores its general application. Gelfand's theory suggests that cultural tightness-looseness is crucial for understanding behaviors and decision-making in business interactions, including B2B marketing.

Gelfand explains that societies differ in the rigidity of their social norms and the sanctions for violating them. These differences shape individuals' cognition and behaviors, influencing their approaches to risk-taking, conventionality, and creativity. According to Gelfand (2011), "Cultures that tend to have strong norms and a low tolerance for deviant behavior (tight

cultures) require greater conformity and uniformity among its members, whereas cultures that have weak social norms and high tolerance for deviant behavior (loose cultures) promote individualism and flexibility."

Applying Gelfand's insights to B2B marketing, this framework draws parallels between cultural tightness-looseness and marketing strategies. In culturally tight contexts, such as Singapore, firms might favor strategies that emphasize conformity, risk-averseness, and standardization. Conversely, in culturally loose contexts, like Norway, firms may prefer strategies fostering individualism, adaptability, and innovation.

This framework provides a novel perspective on how cultural dimensions influence B2B marketing strategies. It highlights the importance of cultural diversity in developing context-sensitive marketing approaches, offering practical implications for global enterprises aiming to operate successfully in varied cultural environments.

Influence of Collectivism and Individualism on B2B Marketing Strategies

Collectivism and individualism significantly shape approaches adopted by businesses in transferring their cultural orientations into targeted marketing strategies. Studies have recognized these cultural dimensions as major determinants of success in Business-to-Business (B2B) marketing, emphasizing the need for a in depth comprehension of how they modulate B2B engagements across different societies (Trim & Lee, 2021).

Typically, collectivistic societies place high regard on community values, solidifying family relationships, and fostering a sense of belongingness. Therein lies their propensity to prioritize stronger, enduring relationships which manifest into effective marketing strategies through long-term relationship building rather than focusing on individual transactions (Triandis, 2004). This orientation towards building brand loyalty is particularly evident in nations like Singapore, China, South Korea, and Japan, where cultural norms emphasize the importance of social cohesion, family ties, and collaborative efforts. In China, marketing messages often stress

ADAPTING B2B MARKETING

the collective benefits and the significance of social relationships, thereby appealing to the deeply entrenched cultural values of community and family. This approach can be instrumental in building and sustaining long-term business relationships, which are vital for the success of B2B marketing strategies in such contexts.

Similarly, Japan's collectivist societal framework further illustrates the need for marketing messages that resonate with the values of social harmony, cooperation, and group consensus. Marketing strategies that emphasize these themes can effectively align with the Japanese propensity for group identity and loyalty. By promoting products and services as mechanisms for achieving collective goals and enhancing social unity, businesses can create a strong emotional connection with their audience, which is crucial for long-term engagement and brand loyalty.

Understanding the dichotomy between individualism and collectivism is thus crucial for crafting effective B2B marketing strategies. In individualistic societies, where personal autonomy and individual achievement are paramount, marketing strategies might focus more on innovation, performance, and individual benefits. Conversely, in collectivist cultures, the emphasis needs to be on relationship-building, community benefits, and social cohesion to align with the core cultural values. Thus, the cultural tightness or looseness of a society plays a pivotal role in shaping the approach and efficacy of B2B marketing strategies.

Theoretical Concepts

In investigating how cultural tightness and looseness affect B2B marketing strategies, several theoretical constructs and concepts emerge as pivotal requisites for a comprehensive research scope. First is the concept of cultural dimensions, first proposed by Geert Hofstede. This theory posits that culture can be analyzed and understood through various dimensions, including power distance, individualism versus collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, masculinity versus femininity, long-term versus short-term orientation, and indulgence versus restraint. This

framework provides a quantitative and qualitative basis upon which marketers can understand and align their strategies with the cultural context.

Another prevalent construct is that of cultural sensitivity, which places emphasis on marketers' ability to respect and adapt to the cultural nuances prevalent within their target market. Coupled with this is the concept of risk perception, particularly as it pertains to potential backlash or reputational harm resulting from cross-cultural misunderstandings or inappropriateness.

The dynamic nature of cultural tendencies also forms a critical investigation area, recognizing that cultural traits are not static but evolve over time. This dynamism implies that marketing strategies should not only reflect the present cultural context but also anticipate and accommodate potential shifts.

Conclusively, the holistic exploration of these theoretical concepts provides a robust scaffold upon which an in-depth investigation into the interplay between cultural tightness/looseness and B2B marketing strategies can be established.

Analysis

The systematic literature review reveals a strong correlation between cultural tightness and looseness and their substantial impact on business-to-business (B2B) marketing strategies. Influences of cultural shifts, both locally and globally, cannot be undermined in the strategic development of B2B sales.

Extensive market research findings suggest that a thorough understanding of cultural trends, preferences, and buying habits is instrumental in shaping sales strategies. When businesses adapt their product offerings, packaging, and pricing structures to meet local demand, their chances of consolidation and expansion in a given market significantly increase.

The role of cultural sensitivity and risk perception is evident in developing marketing strategies, especially where international audiences are concerned. Evidence suggests that a

failure to consider these cultural dimensions can lead to miscommunications and ineffective marketing practices, potentially damaging long-term business relationships and prospects.

Involving key stakeholders, such as leaders and subject matter experts (SMEs), in the content creation process can significantly boost the authenticity and effectiveness of the marketing strategy. Documented examples of this approach show its efficacy in creating content that is both culturally sensitive and targeted.

The literature review also emphasizes the importance of fully incorporating cultural insights into sales strategies. Companies that have excelled in this field have demonstrated the potential for innovative approaches that place culture at the center of their marketing plans, enabling them to stand out in the marketplace.

In summary, an in-depth understanding of cultural dynamics can significantly enhance B2B sales strategies. Global marketing demands a deep respect for and attention to cultural differences, ignoring these pivotal factors can result in missed opportunities and potential risk of market alienation.

Cultural Insights for Marketing Strategies

As discussed in the literature, incorporating cultural insights into sales strategies enables businesses to innovate and differentiate themselves in competitive markets. While companies have successfully exemplified this integration, a more structured approach might entail applying frameworks such as Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions, which transforms intangible cultural aspects into tangible, measurable variables (Hofstede, Hofstede, & Minkov, 2010). This allows marketers to align their strategies more effectively with the cultural values of their target markets, leading to enhanced connection and engagement (Kim, 2000). However, a gap in the literature suggests further research on how to implement such frameworks into various facets of B2B marketing. A key theme emerging from the review is the need for cultural sensitivity and risk perception when developing marketing strategies for international audiences (Nakata & Sivakumar, 2001). Businesses must tread the line between leveraging cultural insights for marketing gains and avoiding cultural appropriation or insensitivity (Argentero et al, 2020). This necessity emphasizes risk awareness and cultural sensitivity (Harich & LaBahn, 1998) as an integral part of a comprehensive marketing strategy, a fabric that unites cultural understanding, branding decisions, and societal implications of business practices.

Despite the evident advantages of accommodating cultural dimensions in marketing strategies, the swift evolution of cultures, particularly in an increasingly interconnected global context, poses a significant challenge. According to Brewer and Venaik (2011), the dynamic nature of cultures necessitates marketers to continuously refine their strategies, aligning them with the ever-changing local and global market landscapes. This process mandates a proactive and collaborative system that ensures inclusivity and business growth, presenting an area ripe for further academic exploration.

Cultural knowledge can significantly impact sales in international markets when aptly harnessed. Tailoring marketing messages to resonate with the target audience's cultural values and aspirations can lead to substantial gains (Liu, Chua, & Stahl, 2010). Nevertheless, the expanding corpus of literature on cultural tightness and looseness elucidates the necessity of integrating cultural dimensions into B2B marketing strategies. Markus and Kitayama (1991) discuss the dichotomy between cultures with high degrees of tightness, characterized by strong adherence to social norms and low tolerance for deviance, and those with looseness, where there is greater permissiveness and diversity in behavior.

In markets with cultural tightness, businesses must align their marketing strategies with established norms and traditions. This alignment necessitates a thorough understanding of cultural codes and an emphasis on conformity, reliability, and security in marketing messages. For instance, in countries like Singapore where cultural tightness prevails, B2B marketers might find success by showcasing their adherence to local customs and long-term relationships, underscoring their commitment to service excellence and quality assurance.

Conversely, in cultures characterized by looseness, such as the Norway, marketers can leverage greater flexibility and creativity in their strategies. Here, innovative and out-of-the-box approaches are more likely to resonate with the target audience. The focus shifts towards highlighting individuality, novelty, and the potential for disruption. Marketers can successfully differentiate their offerings by emphasizing uniqueness and pioneering solutions that challenge the status quo.

Furthermore, the role of a diverse sales team equipped with cultural insights cannot be understated. As illustrated by Meyer and Peng (2016), teams that reflect the cultural diversity of their client base are better positioned to tailor sales pitches and strategies to align with varying cultural preferences. These teams can bridge cultural gaps by adeptly navigating the complexities of different cultural contexts, thereby enhancing engagement and fostering deeper client relationships.

Ultimately, the ability to navigate and adapt to cultural differences in the global B2B arena is paramount. Marketers who cultivate cultural intelligence and implement strategies that reflect a nuanced understanding of local and global cultural shifts are better equipped to seize emerging opportunities, build trust with diverse clientele, and drive international sales success (House et al., 2004). Therefore, the strategic incorporation of cultural insights into marketing strategies is not merely advantageous but essential for companies aspiring to solidify their presence as global leaders in the B2B sector.

Discussion

Exploring the conceptual framework of cultural tightness and looseness reveals their significant role in shaping B2B marketing strategies. Extensive literature on cultural dynamics

shows that these dimensions profoundly impact business practices and interactions. Cultural tightness, as defined by Gelfand et al. (2006), refers to societies with strong norms and low tolerance for deviant behavior, resulting in stricter regulations and formalization in business. In contrast, cultural looseness points to societies with weaker norms and greater tolerance for deviance, allowing more room for innovation and flexibility in business strategies.

Research demonstrates correlations between these cultural dynamics and various facets of B2B marketing. Societies with high cultural tightness often have rigidly structured B2B marketing strategies, emphasizing formal regulations, standardization, and long-term partnerships. Conversely, societies with high cultural looseness encourage dynamic B2B marketing approaches that value flexibility, adaptability, and short-term, project-based collaborations. Recognizing the continuum of cultural tightness-looseness provides valuable insights into the malleability of marketing strategies, enabling businesses to adapt according to sociocultural context and industry-specific requirements.

A study by Appolloni et al (2013), underlines the influence of cultural tightness-looseness on organizational factors. Their findings, building on Gelfand et al. (2007), suggest that the regulatory strength of societies impacts organizational design, decision-making, and strategic focus. These interpretations fortify our understanding of the intersection of cultural dimensions and B2B marketing strategies, reinforcing the necessity of a culturally sensitive approach in the evolving business landscape.

Interview Findings

Tightness and Looseness:

In Singaporean workplaces, the prevailing tightness of social norms and expectations contributes to the rigid hierarchical structures and decision-making dynamics. Tight cultures have strict social norms and low tolerance for deviance, leading to centralized decision-making and limited autonomy among lower-level employees. This tightness is reflected in the need to fight for common-sense actions and the requirement to adhere to established procedures, even when they may seem inefficient.

However, there are also elements of looseness within Singaporean workplaces, particularly in the encouragement for employees to express their views and be heard. This looseness allows for some flexibility in communication and expression, but the ultimate decision-making power remains tightly concentrated at the managerial level.

Power Distance:

The concept of power distance is central to understanding the hierarchical dynamics observed in Singaporean workplaces. Power distance refers to the extent to which less powerful members of an organization or society accept and expect unequal distributions of power. In Singapore, there is a significant power distance between managers and lower-level employees, as well as between different ethnic groups.

The hierarchical structure reinforces this power distance, with decisions primarily made by managers, while lower-level employees have limited autonomy. This power distance leads to situations where employees feel the need to raise their voice to be heard and must fight for common-sense actions, reflecting a struggle against the established power dynamics. Individualism and Collectivism:

Singaporean culture is often characterized as collectivist, emphasizing group harmony and loyalty over individual needs and autonomy. This collectivist mindset is reflected in the prioritization of efficiency and common goals over individual desires. Employees are encouraged to express their views within the group context, but decisions are ultimately made for the collective benefit, primarily by managers.

However, there are also elements of individualism present, particularly in the need for employees to advocate for themselves and push for what they believe is right. This tension

between collectivism and individualism can lead to conflicts between the desire for group harmony and the need for individual expression.

In summary, the concepts of tightness and looseness, power distance, and individualism and collectivism are all relevant in understanding the dynamics of Singaporean workplaces. These concepts influence decision-making processes, communication styles, and the overall experience of employees within the hierarchical structures of Singaporean organizations.

Conclusion

In Singaporean workplaces, hierarchical structures exist between different levels and among different ethnicities, with managers holding decision-making authority while lower-level employees have limited autonomy. Employees often need to raise their voices or fight for common-sense actions, reflecting a struggle against established power dynamics. This hierarchical setup aligns with tight social norms and expectations, contributing to rigid structures and centralized decision-making.

However, there is also some flexibility in communication and expression, allowing employees to voice their opinions. Singaporean culture tends towards collectivism, emphasizing group harmony and loyalty, with decisions made for collective benefit, primarily by managers. Yet, there is also a tension between collectivism and individualism, as employees may need to advocate for themselves.

Communication dynamics involve a cultural value placed on listening to others' perspectives, but decisions are typically made by those higher up the hierarchy, leading to potential conflicts between the desire for group harmony and individual expression. Additionally, Singaporean workplaces prioritize money over time, emphasizing efficiency and productivity, with decisions driven by financial considerations. These dynamics significantly influence decision-making processes, communication styles, and employee experiences within

Singaporean workplaces. Understanding these dynamics is crucial for effective management and fostering a conducive work environment in Singapore.

Ultimately, it's all about finding the right balance - fully integrating while still promoting new ideas. The goal is not to over or under adjust, but rather to seamlessly fit into Singapore's vibrant business culture.

The findings from this study make several contributions to the field of organizational behavior and cross-cultural management.

Contribution to the Field of Study

This study provides valuable insights into power distance by exploring hierarchical structures and power dynamics in Singaporean workplaces. It also integrates the concepts of tightness and looseness, examining how social norms affect decision-making and communication. The study highlights the interplay between collectivist values and individualist tensions, offering insights into managing diverse cultural expectations. Additionally, it offers practical implications for managers in navigating hierarchies, improving decision-making, and fostering inclusive environments. Lastly, it contributes to the global understanding of how cultural factors shape organizational practices.

In conclusion, this study enriches the field of organizational behavior and cross-cultural management by providing insights into the unique dynamics of Singaporean workplaces and their implications for organizational practices and management strategies.

Future Research

Future research in Singaporean workplaces could take several directions to deepen our understanding of power distance, tightness and looseness, and individualism and collectivism dynamics. Longitudinal studies tracking changes in these dynamics over time would provide insights into how societal shifts and global influences affect organizational behavior. Comparative studies with other countries could highlight unique cultural aspects and implications for organizational practices. Qualitative investigations into employees' experiences and perceptions would offer richer insights into organizational culture. Additionally, exploring how different leadership styles impact decision-making processes and how organizations adapt to cultural shifts could provide valuable insights. Further research on the effectiveness of crosscultural training programs, gender dynamics in the workplace, and the impact of technology and globalization would contribute to a comprehensive understanding. Investigating the influence of power distance and cultural values on employee well-being and exploring policy implications for promoting diversity and inclusion while maintaining efficiency would also be valuable areas of study. By pursuing these avenues, future research can advance our understanding of Singaporean workplaces and contribute to the broader literature on cross-cultural management and organizational behavior.

Reflections

Reflecting on the research process and outcomes of this study provides valuable insights into the complexities of understanding cultural dynamics in Singaporean workplaces. Initially, exploring the literature on power distance, tightness and looseness, and individualism and collectivism helped in framing the research questions and understanding the theoretical underpinnings. However, as the research progressed, it became evident that applying these theories to real-world contexts required a special approach.

The data collection process, through literature review and interview, revealed the multifaceted nature of power dynamics and cultural values within Singaporean organizations. It became apparent that power distance was not only about hierarchical structures but also about the subtleties of influence and authority within different levels and ethnicities. Similarly, the concepts of tightness and looseness manifested not only in adherence to rules but also in communication styles and decision-making processes.

One of the most significant challenges encountered was navigating the cultural intricacies and ensuring the validity of the findings. The cultural context of Singapore, with its unique blend of Western and Asian influences, added layers of complexity to the analysis. It required a careful balancing act to ensure that interpretations were culturally sensitive and accurately captured the experiences of participants. Another challenge is securing participants for the interview. On hindsight, having the interview over the phone would have been sufficient.

Despite these challenges, the research yielded valuable insights into Singaporean workplaces. It highlighted the need for Norwegian businesses/ individuals to understand and navigate hierarchical structures while promoting inclusivity and empowerment. Additionally, it emphasized the importance of cultural awareness and sensitivity in fostering effective communication and collaboration among diverse teams.

Looking back, this research process has been a journey of discovery and learning. It has underscored the richness and diversity of cultural dynamics within Singaporean workplaces and the importance of considering these factors in organizational practices. Moving forward, the insights gained from this study can inform future research and managerial practices, contributing to different ways of business adaptation for foreign companies or business personnels who would like to venture into Singapore.

References

Allong, R. (2020, September 24). Understanding cultural insights: *The new next consumer battleground*. Greenbook. <u>https://www.greenbook.org/insights/research-</u>methodologies/understanding-cultural-insights-the-new-next-consumer-battleground

Ang, C.-S., & Liang, C. (2021). Social influence in malaysia and singapore:

interrelationships between cultural orientation, social group identity, coping style, and social conformity. *Psychological Thought*, 14(1), 35–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.37708/psyct.v14i1.516</u>

Beugelsdijk, S., & Maseland, R. (2010). *Culture in economics: History, methodological reflections and contemporary applications*. Cambridge University Press.

Booth, A., Sutton, A., Clowes, M., & Martyn-St James, M. (2022). Systematic

approaches to a successful literature review (Third edition.). SAGE.

Brewer, P., & Venaik, S. (2011). Individualism–collectivism in Hofstede and GLOBE.

Chang, P.-L., & Nguyen, P. T. B. (2022). Made In Singapore. Singapore Economic

Review, 67(6), 1835–1904. <u>https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217590820500150</u>

Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches* (4th edition.). Sage.

Czarnecka, B., & Schivinski, B. (2022). Individualism/collectivism and perceived consumer effectiveness: The moderating role of global–local identities in a post-transitional European economy. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, *21*(2), 180–196.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1988

Coutu, D., & Rapaille, G. (2006). Leveraging the psychology of the salesperson: A conversation with psychologist and anthropologist G. Clotaire Rapaille. In *Harvard business review* (Vol. 84, Issues 7-8, p. 42). Harvard Business School Publishing Corporation.

Daniels, M. A., & Greguras, G. J. (2014). Exploring the Nature of Power Distance: Implications for Micro- and Macro-Level Theories, Processes, and Outcomes. *Journal of Management*, *40*(5), 1202–1229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314527131</u>

De Mooij, M., & Hofstede, G. (2010). The Hofstede model: Applications to global branding and advertising strategy and research. *International Journal of Advertising*, *29*(1), 85– 110. https://doi.org/10.2501/S026504870920104X

Douglas, S. P., & Craig, C. S. (2011). Convergence and Divergence: Developing a Semiglobal Marketing Strategy. *Journal of International Marketing*, 19(1), 82-101.

https://doi.org/10.1509/jimk.19.1.82

Earley, P. C., & Gibson, C. B. (1998). Taking Stock in Our Progress on Individualism-Collectivism: 100 Years of Solidarity and Community. *Journal of Management*, 24(3), 265-304. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uis.no/10.1177/014920639802400302

Earley, P. C., & Mosakowski, E. (2004). Toward culture intelligence: turning cultural differences into a workplace advantage. *The Academy of Management Executive (1993), 18*(3), 151–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/AME.2004.28561784</u>

El-Ansary, A. I., & Stern, L. W. (1972). Power Measurement in the Distribution Channel. Journal of Marketing Research, 9(1), 47-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002224377200900110</u>

Elg, U., Deligonul, S. Z., Ghauri, P. N., Danis, W., & Tarnovskaya, V. (2012). Marketdriving strategy implementation through global supplier relationships. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *41*(6), 919–928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2011.11.001</u>

Ganesan, S. (1994). Determinants of long-term orientation in buyer-seller relationships. *Journal of Marketing*, 58(2), 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1252265</u> Gelfand, M. J., & Realo, A. (1999). Individualism-Collectivism and Accountability in Intergroup Negotiations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *84*(5), 721–736.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.84.5.721

Gelfand, M. J., Nishii, L. H., & Raver, J. L. (2006). On the Nature and Importance of Cultural Tightness-Looseness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(6), 1225–1244.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.6.1225

Gelfand, M. J., Raver, J. L., Nishii, L., Leslie, L. M., Lun, J., Lim, B. C., Duan, L.,

Almaliach, A., Ang, S., Arnadottir, J., Aycan, Z., Boehnke, K., Boski, P., Cabecinhas, R., Chan,
D., Chhokar, J., D'Amato, A., Ferrer, M., Fischlmayr, I. C., ... Yamaguchi, S. (2011). Differences
Between Tight and Loose Cultures: A 33-Nation Study. *Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science)*, 332(6033), 1100–1104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1197754</u>

Gelfand, M. J. (2012). Culture's Constraints: International Differences in the Strength of Social Norms. *Current Directions in Psychological Science: a Journal of the American Psychological Society*, 21(6), 420–424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721412460048</u>

Gelfand, M. J. (2018). *Rule makers, rule breakers: Tight and loose cultures and the secret signals that direct our lives.* Scribner.

Gelfand, M. J., Jackson, J. C., Pan, X., Nau, D., Pieper, D., Denison, E., Dagher, M., Van Lange, P. A. M., Chiu, C.-Y., & Wang, M. (2021). The relationship between cultural tightness–looseness and COVID-19 cases and deaths: a global analysis. *The Lancet. Planetary Health*, *5*(3), e135–e144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30301-6</u>

Gundlach, G. T., & Cadotte, E. R. (1994). Exchange interdependence and interfirm interaction: Research in a simulated channel setting. *Journal of Marketing Research, 31*(4), 516-532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002224379403100406</u>

Gudykunst, W. B., & Ting-Toomey, S. (1988). Culture and Affective Communication. *The American Behavioral Scientist (Beverly Hills)*, *31*(3), 384–400.

https://doi.org/10.1177/000276488031003009

Harich, K. R., & LaBahn, D. W. (1998). Enhancing International Business Relationships: A Focus on Customer Perceptions of Salesperson Role Performance Including Cultural Sensitivity. *Journal of Business Research*, *42*(1), 87–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(97)00100-8</u>

Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture and Organizations. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, *10*(4), 15–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.1980.11656300</u>

Hofstede, G., Minkov, G. J., & Minkov, Michael. (2010). *Cultures and organizations : software of the mind : intercultural cooperation and its importance for survival* (3rd ed., pp. XIV, 561). McGraw-Hill.

House, R. J. (2004). *Culture, leadership, and organizations : the GLOBE study of 62 societies* (pp. XXVIII, 818). Sage

Huang, X., Xiang, S., & Xi, X. (2023). How culture influences consumer creativity: A dual perspective of multiculturalism and loose-tight culture. *Current Psychology (New Brunswick, N.J.), 42*(28), 24489–24515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03569</u>

Imai, L., & Gelfand, M. J. (2010). The culturally intelligent negotiator: The impact of cultural intelligence (CQ) on negotiation sequences and outcomes. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *112*(2), 83–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2010.02.001</u>

Inglehart, R. (1997). Modernization, postmodernization and changing perceptions of risk. International Review of Sociology, 7(3), 449–459.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03906701.1997.9971250

Javidan, M., & House, R. J. (2001). Cultural acumen for the global manager: lessons from Project GLOBE. *Organizational Dynamics*, *29*(4), 289–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0090-</u>2616(01)00034-1

Kale, S. H., & McIntyre, R. P. (1991). Distribution channel relationships in diverse cultures. *International Marketing Review*, *8*(3).

Kalwani, M. U., & Narayandas, N. (1995). Long-Term Manufacturer-Supplier Relationships: Do They Pay off for Supplier Firms? *Journal of Marketing*, *59*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.2307/1252010

Kim, Y. Y. (2017). Cross-cultural adaptation. Oxford research encyclopedia of communication.

Kitayama, S., & Salvador, C. E. (2024). Cultural Psychology: Beyond East and West. Annual Review of Psychology, 75(1), 495–526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-021723-</u> 063333

Kitayama, S., & Uskul, A. K. (2011). Culture, Mind, and the Brain: Current Evidence and Future Directions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *62*(1), 419–449.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120709-145357

Liu, L. A., Chua, C. H., & Stahl, G. K. (2010). Quality of Communication Experience:

Definition, Measurement, and Implications for Intercultural Negotiations. Journal of Applied

Psychology, 95(3), 469-487. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019094

Low, K. C. P., & Ang, S. L. (2012). Confucian leadership and corporate social responsibility (CSR), the way forward. *Journal of Business Research*, *2*(1), 85-101.

Meyer, K. E., & Peng, M. W. (2016). Theoretical foundations of emerging economy business research. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *47*, 3-22.

Nakata, C., & Sivakumar, K. (2001). Instituting the Marketing Concept in a Multinational Setting: The Role of National Culture. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 29(3), 255–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/03079459994623</u>

Oyserman, D., Coon, H. M., & Kemmelmeier, M. (2002). Rethinking Individualism and Collectivism: Evaluation of Theoretical Assumptions and Meta-Analyses. *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*(1), 3–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.128.1.3</u>

Ozeren, E., Ozmen, O. N. T., & Appolloni, A. (2013). The relationship between cultural tightness–looseness and organizational innovativeness: a comparative research into the Turkish and Italian marble industries. *Transition Studies Review*, *19*, 475-492.

Pelto, P. J. (1968). The Study of Man: 'The Differences Between "Tight" and "Loose" Societies' *Trans-Action (Philadelphia)*, *5*(5), 37.

Schwartz, S. (2006). A Theory of Cultural Value Orientations: Explication and Applications. *Comparative Sociology*, *5*(2-3), 137–182.

https://doi.org/10.1163/156913306778667357

Setti, I., Sommovigo, V., & Argentero, P. (2022). Enhancing expatriates' assignments success: the relationships between cultural intelligence, cross-cultural adaptation and performance. *Current Psychology (New Brunswick, N.J.), 41*(7), 4291–4311.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-00931-w

Singelis, T. M., Triandis, H. C., Bhawuk, D. P. S., & Gelfand, M. J. (1995). Horizontal and Vertical Dimensions of Individualism and Collectivism: A Theoretical and Measurement Refinement. *Cross-Cultural Research, 29*(3), 240-275.

https://doi.org/10.1177/106939719502900302

Singh, N., & Matsuo, H. (2004). Measuring cultural adaptation on the Web: a content analytic study of US and Japanese Web sites. *Journal of Business Research*, *57*(8), 864-872. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(02)00482-4 Soh, S., & Leong, F. T. L. (2002). Validity Ofvertical and Horizontal Individualism and Collectivism in Singapore: Relationships with Values and Interests. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *33*(1), 3–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022102033001001</u>

Steindl, S. R., Yiu, R. X. Q., Baumann, T., & Matos, M. (2020). Comparing compassion across cultures: Similarities and differences among Australians and Singaporeans. *Australian Psychologist, 55*(3), 208–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12433</u>

Triandis, H. C. (2001). Individualism-Collectivism and Personality. *Journal of Personality*, *69*(6), 907–924. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.696169

Trim, P. R. J., & Lee, Y.-I. (2021). How B2B marketers interact with customers and develop knowledge to produce a co-owned marketing strategy. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, *36*(10), 1943–1955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-12-2019-0544</u>

Tung, R. L. (2008). The cross-cultural research imperative: The need to balance crossnational and intra-national diversity. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *39*, 41-46.

Uz, I. (2015). The Index of Cultural Tightness and Looseness Among 68 Countries. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 46(3), 319-335.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022114563611

Vera-Baceta, M.-A., Thelwall, M., & Kousha, K. (2019). Web of Science and Scopus language coverage. *Scientometrics*, *121*(3), 1803–1813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-019-03264-z</u>

Yeung, H. W. C. (2000). State intervention and neoliberalism in the globalizing world economy: lessons from Singapore's regionalization programme. *The Pacific Review*, *13*(1), 133–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/095127400363677

Appendix 1

Interview Protocol: Exploring Cross-Cultural Business Adaptation in Singapore Introduction:

Welcome the interviewee and explain the purpose of the interview.

Ensure the interviewee understands their rights and consent to participate.

Assure them of confidentiality and anonymity ie. Interview will not be recorded and answers will be recorded by hand only.

Understanding Tightness and Looseness:

Can you describe the social norms and expectations in Singaporean workplaces? How do these social norms contribute to the hierarchical structures and decision-making dynamics?

Can you provide examples of situations where adherence to established procedures is prioritized over efficiency?

How do employees express their views and opinions in Singaporean workplaces?

Exploring Power Distance:

How would you describe the distribution of power between managers and lower-level employees in Singaporean workplaces? Can you discuss any observed power dynamics between different ethnic groups? How do hierarchical structures in Singaporean organizations influence decision-making processes?

Understanding Individualism and Collectivism:

How would you characterize the emphasis on group harmony and loyalty over individual needs

in Singaporean culture?

Can you provide examples of how decisions are made for the collective benefit? How do employees balance expressing their own views with the collective goals of the organization?

Overall Workplace Dynamics:

How do the concepts of tightness and looseness, power distance, and individualism and collectivism influence the overall workplace dynamics in Singapore?

Conclusion:

Is there anything else you would like to share about your experiences in adapting to the cultural landscape of Singapore?

Do you have any suggestions for further research on this topic?

Thank the participant for their time and contribution.

Provide contact information for any follow-up questions or clarifications.